1979

# George Rupp, Et Al. v. Grantsville City, Et Al. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellants brought an action for declaratory injunctive relief enjoining the enforcement of certain provisions of the respondents' ordinance entitled "Sewers," which provisions are cited as Chapter 22, Sections 31, 34, and 35 of the Grantsville City Ordinances, as revised, and from enjoining the enforcement of certain provisions of the respondents' ordinance entitled "Water," which provisions are cited as Chapter 28, Sections 13, 15, and 27 of the Grantsville City Ordinances, as revised.

The appellants contend the respondents were without necessary statutory authority to enact certain of these

sections and that in other aspects the sections are unconstitutional in violation of notice and hearing requirements of due process.

#### DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The trial of this matter was before the Third Judicial District Court of Tooele County, the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr., Judge, presiding.

At the close of evidence and argument, the lower court granted the respondents' motion to dismiss.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The appellants seek a reversal of the judgment of the lower court by having this court construe and restrain the sections of the ordinances and their enforcement as being unconstitutional and unauthorized by statutes of the State of Utah insofar as the sections of the ordinances purport to extend to the respondents' powers which have not been granted them by the legislature.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In conjunction with an earlier ordinance relative to a sewer system, which did not require mandatory hookups, in 1967 the respondents held a special election which failed to give the respondents the authority to issue general obligation bonds for the construction of a sewer system.

In 1969 the respondents began prodecures for a second special election to give the respondents the authority to issue general obligation bonds for the construction of a sewer system.

In an attempt to gain public approval through this second special election, the respondents authorized the printing of pamphlets to inform the public that they now had commitments for financial grants from the federal government (Housing and Urban Development - \$198,000; Federal Water Quality Agency - \$67,000).

In these pamphlets the respondents informed the appellants and others of the general public that the charge to connect would be \$250 and that those not connected would not be charged, i.e., " ... those people using the system and receiving benefits from it to pay for the construction."

The appellants and others had adequate septic tanks and did not desire to connect.

The respondents discovered that to obtain the federal grants they had to revise their sewer ordinance to provide for mandatory hookups.

The ordinance being attacked in this case was amended in 1969 to provide for mandatory hookups, at which time no such statutory authority existed. It was not until 1971 that the legislature granted the respondents and other cities the statutory authority for mandatory hookups.

After the second special election following the representations in the pamphlet, the respondents let the contract for the construction of a sewer system. Later it was discovered the contractor had made a \$150,000 mistake in his estimate and contract price. Rather than bringing suit against the contractor, the respondents waived that right and decided to increase the connection fee from \$250 to \$350. This action was done after a public hearing before the respondents but not by a vote by the people.

Thereafter, the respondents sent notices to the appellants and others to the effect that it was mandatory that they hook up to the sewer system and pay the increased connection fee plus monthly rates, or they would have all of the water being used by them cut off as a means to effect enforcement of their mandatory hookup ordinance.

The appellants had their water turned off for refusal. They were advised by counsel to pay under protest so that they would not be deprived of water and then to determine if this action should be brought, which it was and is now before this court on appeal.

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE RESPONDENTS HAD NO STATUTORY AUTHORITY  
TO ENACT THE ORDINANCE FOR MANDATORY HOOK-  
UPS TO THE SEWER SYSTEM.

The respondent is a city. And cities are in their nature and purpose creatures, instrumentalities, or local agents of the state to exist, function, or be annihilated strictly at the will of the legislature for the convenient administration of government throughout the state.

Cities may exercise only those powers which have been expressly granted by the legislature by general laws; those powers which are reasonably implied as being necessary to carry out those powers which have been expressly granted; and those powers which are essential to the declared objects and purposes of all cities alike created, not merely convenient, but absolutely indispensable. (16 C.J.S. Const. Law § 140(b); 62 C.J.S. Mun. Corps. §§ 107 and 110(b); 37 Am. Jur. 722; 1 McQuillin, Mun. Corps. 387 (2d ed.); 1 Dillon, Mun. Corps. § 237 at 448 (5th ed.); Utah Const. art. IX, § 5; Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-84 (1953); Rich v. Salt Lake City, 20 Utah 2d 339, 437 P.2d 690 (1968); Salt Lake City v. Allred, 19 Utah 2d 254, 430 P.2d 371 (1967); although reversed on rehearing on point of preemption, Salt Lake City v. Allred, 20 Utah 2d 298, 437 P.2d 434 (1968), wherein the cases of Kusse, Leo, Charlier, Hoffman, Horne, and Doran, *infra*, were cited with approval; Salt Lake City v. State Tax Comm'n, 11 Utah 2d 359, 359 P.2d 397 (1961); Stevenson v. Salt Lake City, 7 Utah 2d 28, 317 P.2d 597 (1957); Ritholz v. Salt Lake City, 3 Utah 2d 385, 284 P.2d 702 (1955); Nasfell v. Ogden City, 122 Utah

344, 249 P.2d 507 (1952); Nance v. Mayflower Tavern, 106 Utah 517, 150 P.2d 777 (1944); Duchesne County v. State Tax Comm'n, 104 Utah 635, 140 P.2d 335 (1943); Walton v. Tracy Loan and Trust Co., 97 Utah 249, 92 P.2d 724 (1939); Salt Lake City v. Kusse, 97 Utah 113, 93 P.2d 671 (1938); Riggins v. District Court of Salt Lake County, 89 Utah 183, 51 P.2d 645 (1935); American Petroleum Co. v. Ogden City, 90 Utah 465, 62 P.2d 557 (1936); Utah Rapid Transit Co. v. Ogden City, 89 Utah 546, 58 P.2d 1 (1936); although reversed on other grounds by Rich v. Salt Lake City, 20 Utah 2d 339, 437 P.2d 690 (1968); Lehi City v. Meiling, 87 Utah 237, 48 P.2d 530 (1935); Wadsworth v. Santaquin City, 83 Utah 321, 28 P.2d 161 (1933); Salt Lake City v. Bennion Gas & Oil Co., 80 Utah 530, 15 P.2d 648 (1932); Bohn v. Salt Lake City, 79 Utah 121, 8 P.2d 591, 81 A.L.R. 215 (1932); Morgan v. Salt Lake City, 78 Utah 403, 3 P.2d 510 (1931); American Fork City v. Robinson, 77 Utah 168, 292 P. 249 (1930); Salt Lake City v. Sutter, 61 Utah 533, 216 P. 234 (1923); Salt Lake City v. Bernhagen, 56 Utah 159, 189 P. 583 (1920); Ogden City v. Leo, 54 Utah 556, 182 P. 530 (1919); Salt Lake City v. Board of Educ. of Salt Lake City, 52 Utah 540, 175 P. 654 (1918); Zamata v. Browning, 51 Utah 400, 170 P. 1057 (1918); Tooele v. Hoffman, 42 Utah 596, 134 P. 558 (1913); Salt Lake County v. Salt Lake City, 42 Utah 548, 134 P. 560 (1913); American Fork v. Charlier, 43 Utah 231, 134 P. 739 (1913); Salt Lake City v. Doran, 42 Utah 401, 131 P. 636 (1913); Pleasant Grove City v.

Lindsay, 41 Utah 154, 125 P. 389 (1912); Salt Lake City v. Howe, 37 Utah 170, 106 P. 705 (1910), Ann. Cas. 1912C 189; Nelden v. Clark, 20 Utah 382, 59 P. 524, 77 Am. S. R. 917 (1899); Ogden City v. Boseman, 20 Utah 98, 57 P. 843 (1899); Kimball v. Grantsville City, 19 Utah 368, 57 P. 1, 45 L.R.A. 628 (1899); Ogden City v. Crossman, 17 Utah 66, 53 P. 985 (1898); Ogden City v. Bear Lake and River, etc., Co., 16 Utah 440, 52 P. 697, 41 L.R.A. 305 (1898).)

This view is well expressed in 1 Dillon, Municipal Corporations 154 (5th ed.):

It must now be conceded that the great weight of authority denies in toto the existence, in the absence of special constitutional provisions, of any inherent right of local self-government, which is beyond legislative control. The Supreme Court of the United States has declared that a municipal corporation in the exercise of all its duties, including those most strictly local or internal, is but a department of the State. The legislature may give it all the powers such a being is capable of receiving, making it a miniature State within its locality; or it may strip it of every power, leaving it a corporation in name only; and it may create and recreate these changes as often as it chooses, or it may itself exercise directly within the locality any and all powers usually committed to a municipality. So viewed its acts cannot be regarded as sometimes those of an agency of the State and at others those of a municipality; but, its

character and nature remaining at all times the same, it is great or small according as the legislature shall extend or contract the sphere of its actions.

The respondents in this case now on appeal have never yet contended the law in this state to be contrary to that which has been stated above. In fact, the respondents rely solely on Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-38 (1953) for their authority to enact the 1969 mandatory hookup ordinance, when such express statutory authority was not given the respondents or any city until the 1971 amendment of Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-38 (1953).

The respondents do not rely on their so-called general welfare powers which are to be found in Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-84 (1953). Nor could there be reliance thereon, because that statute merely authorizes cities to pass "all ordinances ... necessary for carrying into effect or discharging all powers and duties conferred by this chapter...." (Emphasis added.)

The general grant of power to enact ordinances to be found in Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-84 (1953) is merely in aid of the special grants of express powers elsewhere to be found in the legislative statutes called general laws which are required to have uniform application throughout the state (American Fork City v. Robinson, 77 Utah 168, 292 P. 249 (1930)) and does not enlarge or annul any special grant of express power.



(Bohn v. Salt Lake City, 79 Utah 121, 8 P.2d 591, 81 A.L.R. 215 (1932).)

Therefore, the respondents were without statutory authority to enact the mandatory hookup ordinance under attack in this appeal, because such ordinance was enacted in 1969, two years prior to the 1971 statutory authority. And interestingly enough, the respondents to this very day have not yet enacted a valid mandatory hookup ordinance even though they have had such authority since 1971.

The appellants do not contend the respondents were without authority to construct, maintain, and operate a city sewer system. Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-38 (1953) since its inception in 1898 has provided such authority.

What the appellants do contend is that the respondents by the ordinance relied on do not have the authority to compel the appellants to hook up to the sewer.

The appellants recognize and accept the burden of establishing the invalidity of the ordinance under attack. (Salt Lake City v. Savage, 541 P.2d 1035 (Utah 1975).) This burden is met through two parallel lines of reason.

First, the general construction of doubtful city authority, both within this state and others, is that where there is a reasonable doubt concerning the existence of a particular authority of a city, that doubt should be resolved against the city, and the authority should be denied. (Nance

v. Mayflower Tavern, 106 Utah 517, 150 P.2d 773 (1944); Pacific County v. Sherwood Pacific, Inc., 567 P.2d 642 (Wash. App. 1977); Salinas v. Pacific Telephone & Telegraph Co., 72 Cal. App. 2d 494, 164 P.2d 905 (1946); Fullerton v. Central Lincoln People's Utility District, 185 Ore. 28, 201 P.2d 524 (1948).)

Secondly, there would be no need for the legislature to amend Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-38 (1953) in 1971, expressly granting the authority to cities for mandatory hookups if that authority were already implicit in the pre-amendment version of the statute.

Thus, the very fact the legislature in 1971 amended Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-38 (1953) supplies the necessary consensus that the pre-amendment version authority for mandatory hookups was sorely in doubt at best and more likely was intentionally and entirely lacking.

Hence, following the general constructions of doubtful city authority and the need for express statutory authority, the authority for mandatory hookups the respondents claim by the 1969 ordinance should be denied.

Furthermore, another well-established rule of construction is that, in the absence of any express statutory provision to the contrary, the enumeration of some express authority within a statute (e.g., to provide for a sewer system prior to 1971) implies the exclusion of all other authority within that statute (e.g., no mandatory hookups until after

the 1971 amendment). (62 C.J.S. Municipal Corporations § 120; City of Tulsa, Okla. v. Midland Valley R.R., C.C.A. Okla., 168 F.2d 252; Arnold v. City of Chicago, 387 Ill. 532, 56 N.E. 2d 795; City of Bloomington v. Wirrick, 381 Ill. 347, 45 N.E. 2d 852, cert. denied, 319 U.S. 756, 63 S. Ct. 1175, 87 L. Ed. 1709; Van Eaton v. Town of Sidney, 211 Iowa 986, 231 N.W. 475, 71 A.L.R. 820, 43 C.J. 197, n. 19.)

Also, where there is the enactment of subsequent legislation containing a specific grant of authority (1971 mandatory hookup amendment) which authority is kindred to that contained in prior legislation (sewer system), the prior legislation containing a general grant of authority usually suggests the conclusion that the subsequent specific grant of authority was not in the prior legislation. (Salt Lake City v. Towne House Athletic Club, 18 Utah 2d 417, 424 P.2d 442 (1967).)

And preference should be given subsequent statutes over prior statutes where there is a conflict. (Nelden v. Clark, 20 Utah 382, 59 P.2d 524; Pacific International Express Co. v. Utah State Tax Comm'n, 7 Utah 2d 15, 316 P.2d 549.)

Finally, where statutes are conflicting, the more specific takes precedence over the general (Rammell v. Smith, 560 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1977); University of Utah v. Richards, 20 Utah 457, 59 P. 96; 73 Am. Jur. 2d Statutes § 257; State v. Rice, 110 Ariz. 210, 516 P.2d 1222 (1973); In re Smart, 54 Haw. 250, 505 P.2d 1179 (1973).)

In conclusion, it must be conceded the respondents through the 1969 ordinance did not have authority for mandatory hookups to the city sewer system, because the legislature never provided that authority until its 1971 amendment of Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-38 (1953).

Therefore, the appellants were wrongfully compelled to hook up to the sewer system, pay connection fees and monthly fees or have their water services discontinued. The appellants should be able to again use their septic tanks if so desired and receive refunds of all fees heretofore paid by virtue of the invalid 1969 mandatory hookup ordinance and other ordinances related thereto. And all of this whether or not such fees were paid under protest, because the ordinances under which the fees were paid were and still are invalid. (Wilson v. Weber County, 111 P.2d 147 (Utah 1941).)

## POINT II

THE BOND ELECTION WAS INVALID BECAUSE THE  
RESPONDENTS INDUCED THE APPELLANTS BY  
MISREPRESENTATIONS.

Of course, if this court finds the ordinances discussed in Point I of this brief are without authority, then the respondents cannot compel the appellants to pay fees of any amounts pertaining to mandatory hookups.

This point, though brief, goes further and contends the appellants need not pay any connection fees because the

pamphlets stated the charge to connect would be \$250 and that those who did not connect would not be charged.

The appellants chose not to connect but were not only compelled to hook up but were charged \$350 rather than the \$250 represented as being the fee to connect.

The case of Utah Savings and Trust v. Salt Lake City, 99 P. 255 (Utah 1908) stands for the proposition that if erroneous statements were made with respect to the bond election, and the plaintiffs can make a showing that they and others were induced by reason of such improper statements to vote for the bonds, then the validity of the election can be examined by the courts.

The case most on point with the instant case is Ricker v. Board of Educ. of Millard County School District, 396 P.2d 416 (Utah 1964). There this court examined the effect of the "explanatory brochure" concerning a school bond election and the misleading statements contained therein. Since this court found no deceit, fraud, or corruption on the part of the school board, it held against the plaintiffs.

The appellants in the instant case, however, contend the pamphlet contained the misrepresentations stated and made the bond election invalid and unconstitutional for lack of due process and fair opportunity to vote. (U.S. Const. amends. V and XIV.)

### POINT III

THE APPELLANTS HAVE BEEN DENIED EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW IN THAT THE RESPONDENTS HAVE NOT APPLIED THE ORDINANCES TO ALL IN LIKE SITUATIONS.

The appellants have been compelled to hook up to the sewer system and pay fees while the respondents have not even done so themselves as to all properties owned by the respondents, and without having others within the city do so, where the sewer could be but has not been constructed because of costs, and not inaccessibility, all of which constitutes select law enforcement, amounting to the denial of constitutional equal protection of the laws. (U.S. Const. amend. XIV.)

### POINT IV

THE ORDINANCES ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS WHERE THEY PROVIDE FOR WATER TERMINATION WITHOUT HEARINGS.

Assuming without admitting that Revised Grantsville City Ordinances, Section 22-31 (R.G.O. § 22-31), the mandatory hookup ordinance enacted in 1969, although the legislature never expressly authorized same until 1971, is deemed by this court to be valid, the appellants still contend Revised Grantsville City Ordinances, Section 28-27 (R.G.O. § 28-27), the water termination ordinance, is still unconstitutional in that it fails to provide for prior hearings as required by due process of law.

The second paragraph of R.G.O. § 28-27 begins by stating, "Persons applying for connection ...." The appellants never applied for connection because they resisted the mandatory hookup provision of R.G.O. § 22-31.

The last paragraph of R.G.O. § 28-27 provides:

If any part of the account for either sewer or water becomes delinquent, as in this Code provided, the water service shall be discontinued by the City until all delinquencies have been paid in full including the reconnection fee.

The appellants had their water turned off because they refused to pay the mandatory hookup fee and the monthly sewer fees thereafter. The respondents sent letters of demand for such payments but held no hearings before terminating all water services to the appellants.

The respondents refused to reconnect water services to the appellants until satisfactory arrangements for payment had been made. It was because of this the appellants were advised by counsel to pay such fees under protest so that their water services would be resumed until this matter could be decided through the courts.

A recent case directly in point with the instant case is Koger v. Guarino, 412 F. Supp. 1375 (D.C. Pa. 1976). In that case a class action for declaratory injunctive relief was

brought, contending that certain termination procedures of the city water department violated the due process clause of amendment XIV of the United States Constitution.

The district court there found at p. 1386:

... a water user has a legitimate claim of entitlement to continued water services which is a property interest to which the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment applies.

Having determined that due process applies, the court then addressed the question as to whether the procedures adopted by the defendant water department in connection with the termination of water services were in compliance with the requirements of the due process clause. The court noted that the fundamental requirement of due process is "the opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner." (At p. 1387.) Since the ordinances under which the defendant water department was acting did not require a hearing prior to termination of water services, the court concluded at p. 1388:

... the pre-termination procedures employed by the defendants are inadequate to satisfy the requirements of the due process clause.

And the court further concluded at p. 1389:

Due process requires a hearing prior to the termination of essential



services such as water and sewer and making payment of all delinquent water and sewer bills a condition precedent to a hearing is not sufficient.

Therefore, since in the instant case, neither R.G.O. §§ 22-31 nor 28-27 require a hearing prior to the termination of water and sewer services, both ordinances are unconstitutional under the due process clause of the fourteenth amendment of the United States Constitution.

The distinction of a class action suit is of no significance, because if the ordinances are unconstitutional or otherwise without authority, they are invalid, unenforceable, and no vehicles through which fees may be collected lawfully. Any such fees collected must be refunded whether or not paid under protest. (Wilson v. Weber Co., 111 P.2d 147 (Utah 1941).)

#### CONCLUSION

The decision of the lower court should be reversed with a declaratory judgment by this court that the respondents acted without authority through their ordinances of mandatory hookups (R.G.O. § 22-31) and water termination (R.G.O. § 28-27), because of the absence of express legislative authority and in violation of constitutional due process.

Furthermore, this court should order the respondents to refund all unlawfully collected fees and permanently enjoin the enforcement of both ordinances and any others which flow

therefrom for their provisions which are in conflict with  
statutory and constitutional requirements stated herein.