1979

George Rupp, Et Al. v. Grantsville City, Et Al. : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The Appellants filed an action seeking declaratory and injunctive relief to enjoin enforcement of Revised Ordinances of Grantsville City, Chapter 22, Sections 31, 34 and 35 and Chapter 28, Sections 13, 15 and 27. The Appellants alleged that City officials had misrepresented to them and other citizens certain facts with respect to a bond election which approved the issuance of general obligation bonds to help pay the costs of constructing a sewer system in Grantsville. The Appellants alleged that they relied upon these misrepresentations in supporting the bond election and that the enforcement of the cited ordinances was contrary to the representations made and denied them their rights of due process and the opportunity to vote at an election fairly presented and also

constituted a confiscation of their property without compensation.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

This case was tried in the District Court of the Third Judicial District in and for Tooele County with the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr., presiding. After all the evidence was presented and having allowed time for counsel to submit memorandums, the Court granted the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss which it had taken under advisement at the conclusion of Appellants' case.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Respondents seek to have the findings of the trial court and its order based thereon upheld.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to November 3, 1970, the elected officials of Grantsville City determined it to be in the best interests of the citizens of Grantsville City to construct a municipal sewer system. Application was made for Federal grants to help defray the costs of construction. As a condition precedent to receiving the Federal grants, it was necessary for the City to adopt a mandatory connection ordinance. This ordinance (Exhibit P-2) was adopted in 1969. The water ordinance (Exhibit P-1) was adopted in 1955. The Federal grants were obtained and the City called a special bond election, which was held on November 3, 1970, in which the voters approved the issuance of the bonds to help fund the

construction and maintenance of the sewer system. Prior to the bond election, the elected officials of Grantsville City circulated a flyer (Exhibit P-3) in support of the bond election. Bids were let and awarded to various contractors, and construction of the sewer system began. After construction was commenced, it was discovered that the consulting engineers who designed the system had made a mistake with respect to the number of lineal feet of sewer laterals for the sewer system. It was discovered that the actual number of lineal feet of sewer laterals needed would be 24,000 feet rather than the 6,000 feet originally anticipated. To solve the problem of paying for the additional footage of sewer laterals, the elected officials of the City determined to increase the connection fee to the sewer system from \$250.00 to \$350.00. Letters were sent from the City advising citizens of the mistake, and a public meeting to discuss the proposed solution was advertised and held. The public meeting was well attended and a vote was taken on the proposed solution, which was approved with only a few objections. The City then increased the connection fee from \$250.00 to \$350.00. Construction of the sewer was completed and the citizens were advised that connection to the system was available on December 4, 1972. Letters were sent to the citizens (Exhibit D-5) relative to the sewer system and payment of the connection fees. Appellants failed to pay the connection fee; and pursuant to the ordinance, water service to their residences was discontinued. Upon

payment of the connection fee, water service was reinstated. Each of the Appellants had made payment of the connection fee, without paying under protest, by May 11, 1976. On September 1, 1977 the Appellants filed suit seeking declaratory injunctive relief enjoining the enforcement of Revised Ordinances of Grantsville, Chapter 22, Sections 31, 34 and 35 and Chapter 28, Sections 13, 15 and 26 and, also, seeking an injunction to prevent the City from raising the connection fee above \$250.00 as against the Appellants. The suit was filed without making a claim against the City for refund of the \$100.00 collected over and above the \$250.00 original connection fee and without complying, in any way, with the Governmental Immunity Act or with Utah Code Annotated, Title 10, Chapter 7, Section 77.

The Appellants alleged that on or about November 4, 1970 the City presented to the citizens a proposal for the funding, construction and maintenance of a sewer system to serve the City. They alleged that the elected representatives of the City made certain specific representations to the Appellants, both orally and written, that the Appellants relied upon the representations in supporting the bond election. They alleged that subsequent to the approval of the bond issue, the City has sought to enforce the above-mentioned ordinances, including the increased connection fee, all of which they alleged was contrary to the representations made to the residents. The Appellants alleged that enforcement

of the ordinances had been arbitrary and discriminatory, violating their rights to equal protection and due process. They alleged that enforcement of the ordinances, which was in direct contradiction to the representations made prior to the bond election, denied them due process, constituted a confiscation of plaintiffs' property without compensation, without notice, without a fair opportunity to be heard, and without the opportunity to vote at a duly called election on issues fairly presented to the residents. They alleged that as a result of their failure to connect to the sewer system, the City caused their water service to be discontinued and that the enforcement of the ordinances would cause the plaintiffs undue hardship and irreparable harm. The defendant, City then filed an answer and the case was brought to trial on December 15, 1978, after having been continued on October 30, 1978. Some evidence was stipulated to and the plaintiffs called one witness and the defendants called two witnesses. On October 30, 1978 and December 15, 1978, the plaintiffs stipulated that the adequacy of the design of the sewer system would not be an issue at the trial and it was not raised as an issue. At the conclusion of the plaintiffs' evidence, the defendant, City moved to dismiss the action on three basis: First, that the thrust of the plaintiffs' action was that the defendant, City had made misrepresentations of certain facts and the plaintiffs' evidence did not show that they relied upon any of the purported misrepresentations.

Second, that the case sounded in tort and deceit and based upon the evidence presented that was in fact the thrust of the action and that the City had not had its governmental immunity waived as to such a case. Third, that the evidence did not establish that the payments made by the plaintiffs were paid under protest.

The Court took the motion under advisement and it gave counsel time to submit memorandums and the defendant, City then presented its case. At the conclusion of all the evidence and after the time had run for the memorandums of counsel to be submitted, the Court entered its Findings of Fact and Order dismissing the case. It is from this Order that the plaintiffs have taken this appeal.

POINT I

THE CITY HAD AUTHORITY TO ENACT AN ORDINANCE MAKING CONNECTION TO THE SEWER SYSTEM MANDATORY

Utah Code Annotated, Section 10-8-15, 1953, as it read when the mandatory hook-up ordinance was adopted, read:

"They may construct, maintain, and operate waterworks, sewer collection, sewer treatment systems, gas works, electric light works, telephone lines or public transportation systems, or authorize the construction, maintenance and operation of the same by others, or purchase or lease such works or systems from any person or corporation, and they may sell and deliver the surplus product or service capacity of any such works, not required by the city or its inhabitants to others beyond the limits of the city."

Utah Code Annotated, Section 10-8-38 read, in pertinent part, when the mandatory hook-up ordinance was adopted:

"Boards of commissioners, city councils and boards of trustees of cities and towns may construct, reconstruct, maintain and operate sewer systems, sewage treatment plants. . . . and all systems, equipment and facilities necessary to the proper drainage, sewage and sanitary sewage disposal requirements of the city or town and regulate the construction and use thereof.

"Any city or town, for the purpose of defraying the cost of construction, reconstruction, maintenance or operation of any sewer system or sewage treatment plant, may make a reasonable charge for the use thereof." . . .

Utah Code Annotated, Section 10-8-84, as in effect when the mandatory hook-up ordinance was adopted, read:

"They may pass all ordinances and rules and make all regulations, not repugnant to law, necessary for carrying into effect or discharging all powers and duties conferred by this chapter, and such as are necessary and proper to provide for the safety and preserve the health, and promote the prosperity, improve the morals, peace and good order, comfort and convenience of the city and the inhabitants thereof, and for the protection of property therein; and may enforce obedience to such ordinances with such fines or penalties as they may deem proper; provided, that the punishment of any offense shall be by fine in any sum less than \$300.00 or by imprisonment not to exceed six months, or by both such fine and imprisonment."

While it is true that Utah Code Annotated, Section 10-8-38 was amended in 1971 to include language specifically authorizing cities to enact mandatory hook-up ordinances, it does not necessarily follow that cities lacked such authority prior to that time. Appellants cite Salt Lake City v. Towne House Athletic Club, 18 Utah 2d 417, 424 P. 2d 442 (1967), as authority for the proposition that the 1971 amendment of

Section 10-8-38 means that cities did not have the power to adopt mandatory hook-up ordinances prior to that time. It is true that "the enactment of subsequent legislation containing a specific grant of power kindred to that contained in prior legislation containing a general grant of power usually suggests the conclusion that the later specific grant was not included within the former general grant". Salt Lake City v. Towne House Athletic Club, 18 Utah 2d 417, 421, 424 P. 2d 442, 445. But the suggestion of that conclusion does not compel the conclusion. It is also recognized that the passage of a statute expressly conferring power on a municipal corporation does not necessarily preclude the pre-existence of the power. Hopkins v. Richmond, 117 Va. 692, 86 SE 139; overruled on other grounds, Irvine v. Clifton Forge, 124 Va. 78, 97 SE 310. The Supreme Court of this state has recognized on two separate occasions the power of cities and counties to adopt mandatory hook-up ordinances. In Bigler, et al. v. Greenwood, et al., 123 Utah 60, 254 P. 2d 843 (1953), the Salt Lake County Commissioners had set up a sewer district, construction project and a plan for financing the same. The plaintiffs filed in the Supreme Court an original proceeding seeking an extraordinary writ to prohibit the commissioners from going forward with the program. One of the points the plaintiffs attacked the program on was that the method of financing would impose liens upon plaintiffs' property without notice and thus denied them due process of law.

This was the point the Court decided the case on. The Court, in making its determination as to whether the method of financing the project was a non-lien purely revenue bond financing or one which created a lien upon the property, noted that each householder within the district whose property was within 200 feet of the sewer was under mandate of a county ordinance to connect with the sewer. Speaking of this mandatory hook-up provision the Court said, "The ordinance is unquestionably valid and enforceable. The County Commissioners. . .may make and enforce. . .all such local. . .sanitary regulations as are not in conflict with general laws and. . .make such provision for the preservation of health. . . as they may deem necessary. . .Such an ordinance is undeniably proposed to protect the health and welfare and is therefore a valid exercise of authority expressly conferred under the police power." Bigler, supra at 66-67. The statutes which the Court cited as giving the commissioners power to adopt such an ordinance were Utah Code Annotated, Sections 17-5-35 and 49. These statutes are similar in their provisions to Utah Code Annotated, Section 10-8-84, which is commonly known as the "General Welfare Clause" for cities.

In Bair v. Layton City Corporation, 6 Utah 2d 138, 307 P. 2d 895 (1957), the City of Layton enacted an ordinance authorizing and directing the execution of a contract between the City and the North Davis County Sewer District. One provision of the contract required the City to keep in

force, at all times during the term of the contract, an ordinance requiring all buildings and structures in the City used for residential, commercial or industrial purposes and which were within a reasonable distance of an established sewer connection main, to be connected to such main. In speaking of this provision, the Court said, "There might be some difference of opinion on whether some buildings are within a reasonable distance from a sewer main, and a reasonable distance from such main might be different under some circumstances than under others, but it seems clear that the City's governing body should have no difficulty in enacting an ordinance which would fix a reasonable distance from such main within which all the buildings and structures designated in the contract must be connected with such main." Bair, supra at 149.

It should also be noted that Utah Code Annotated, Section 10-8-38, as it existed at the time the city adopted its mandatory hook-up ordinance, granted the city the power to construct and to regulate the construction and use of the sewer system. The mandatory hook-up ordinance is a reasonable regulation which was adopted to help defray the cost of construction and maintenance and also to protect the health and safety and to promote the prosperity of the city and its inhabitants.

In conclusion, the city had authority under the case law of this state and pursuant to its police power and power to

construct and regulate the construction and use of sewers within the city limits, to adopt a mandatory hook-up ordinance prior to the time when Utah Code Annotated, Section 10-8-38 was amended in 1971 to expressly provide such power. The legislature in so amending that section was codifying and clarifying what was already recognized as the state of the law.

POINT II

THE BOND ELECTION WAS VALID IN THAT THERE
WERE NO MISREPRESENTATIONS CALCULATED TO
MISLEAD THE VOTERS

In the case of Ricker, et al. v. Board of Education of Millard County School District, 16 Utah 2d 106, 396 P. 2d 416 (1964), the defendant, School Board, had determined to have a school bond election. The Board published, in a local newspaper, a notice of the school bond election and a copy of the official ballot. In addition, it had printed an explanatory brochure about the election and its purpose. The brochure indicated, among other things, that the funds generated by the bonds would be spent under two main categories: high schools and elementary schools. The brochure indicated the main item in high schools would be a new combined junior and senior high school at Delta, at a cost of about \$1,250,000.00 and, additionally, that about \$155,000.00 would be spent at Millard High School. It also indicated that there were several proposals under consideration for construction and remodeling of grade schools in the district but gave no cost estimates for those projects.

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